**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA
NO. 19-1919**

**STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee**

vs.

**TYJUAN LEVELL TUCKER,
Defendant-Appellant.**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK
COUNTY, JUDGE WILLIAM P. KELLY**

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL
ARGUMENT**

Andy Dunn
Jessica Donels
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn Boles Gribble
Gentry Brown Bergmann & Messamer L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312
Telephone: (515) 284-5737
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704
Email: adunn@parrishlaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. TUCKER WAS DENIED THE RIGHT TO A JURY DRAWN FROM A FAIR CROSS-SECTION OF THE COMMUNITY IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, § 10.

Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357 (1979)

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Coker, 412 N.W.2d 589 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Veal, 930 N.W.2d 319 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Const. Art. I, § 10

Iowa Code § 815.4

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.20

Paula Hannaford-Agor, *Systematic Negligence in Jury Operations: Why the Definition of Systematic Exclusion in Fair Cross Section Claims must be Expanded*, 59 DRAKE L.R. 761 (2011)

II. TUCKER RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO PRESENT EXPERT EVIDENCE AS TO WHETHER THE JURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES IN POLK COUNTY RESULTED IN

SYSTEMATIC EXCLUSION OF AFRICAN AMERICANS FROM THE JURY POOL.

English v. Missildine, 311 N.W.2d 292 (Iowa 1981)

Harris v. State, No. 18-0175, 2020 WL 2372097 (Iowa Ct. App. June 5, 2019)

In re Guardianship of Matejski, 419 N.W.2d 576 (Iowa 1988)

Klouda v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Dept. of Corr. Srvs., 642 N.W.2d 840 (Iowa 2000)

Ledezma v. State, 626 N.W.2d 134 (Iowa 2001)

Nguyen v. State, 878 N.W.2d 744 (Iowa 2016)

Schrier v. State, 573 N.W.2d 242 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Brothern, 832 N.W.2d 187 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Damme, 944 N.W.2d 98 (2020)

State v. Dalton, 674 N.W.2d 111 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Goff, 342 N.W.2d 830 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Kuhse, 937 N.W.2d 622 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Trane, 934 N.W.2d 447 (Iowa 2019)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

Iowa Const. Art. I, § 10

Iowa Const. Art. V, § 4

Iowa Const. Art. V, § 6

Iowa Code § 602.4102

Iowa Code § 814.7 (2019)

Iowa Code § 814.7 (2004)

III. THE ERRONEOUS EXCLUSION OF TUCKER'S SETTLEMENT DOCUMENTS DENIED TUCKER THE OPPORTUNITY TO PUT ON A DEFENSE IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT AND ARTICLE I, § 10.

Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683 (1986)

Kendall/Hunt Pub. Co. v. Rowe, 424 N.W.2d 235 (Iowa 1988)

Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39 (1987)

State v. Fox, 491 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Hallum, 585 N.W.2d 249 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Neiderbach, 837 N.W.2d 180 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Veal, 564 N.W.2d 797 (Iowa 1997)

Whitley v. C.R. Pharmacy Srv., Inc., 816 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2012)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.104

Iowa R. Evid. 5.401

Iowa R. Evid. 5.402

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.14

U.S. Const. amend. V

Iowa Const. Art. I, § 10.

IV. THE ERRONEOUS EXCLUSION OF THE FULL VIDEOTAPED ENCOUNTER BETWEEN TUCKER AND THE ARRESTING OFFICERS DENIED TUCKER HIS OPPORTUNITY TO PUT ON A DEFENSE IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT AND ARTICLE I, § 10.

Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39 (1987)

State v. Fox, 491 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Huser, 894 N.W.2d 472 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Neiderbach, 837 N.W.2d 180 (Iowa 2013)

U.S. Const. amend. V

Iowa Const. Art. I, § 10.

Iowa R. Evid. 5.106

V. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT TUCKER OF POSSESSION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE WITH INTENT TO DELIVER.

State v. Adams, 554 N.W.2d 686 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Grant, 722 N.W.2d 645 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Randle, 555 N.W.2d 666 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Williams, 695 N.W.2d 23 (Iowa 2005)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Regarding Issues I and II, Tucker appeals because he was tried by an all-white jury in violation of his right to have a jury drawn from a fair cross-section of the community under the Sixth Amendment and Article I, § 10. Although the Iowa Supreme Court has recently spoken on this issue in *State v. Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 2019), further guidance is needed to this substantial issue of broad public importance. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d).

The remaining issues involve the routine application of existing legal principles and are appropriate for transfer to the Iowa Court of Appeals. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

CASE STATEMENT

Tyjuan Tucker was charged by trial information with one count of possession of a controlled substance with the intent to deliver – marijuana – in violation of Iowa Code § 124.401(1)(d), a Class D Felony. (App. p. 4). This was Tucker’s third such offense enhancing the level of the lesser-included offense to a Class D Felony under Iowa Code § 124.401(5). (App. p. 4). Tucker pled not guilty. (Ord. of Arraignment, Sept. 12, 2018). On June 2, 2019, an amended TI was filed alleging that Tucker was a habitual offender under Iowa Code §§ 902.87 and 902.9(1)(c). (App. p. 9).¹

The case initially came to trial on June 3, 2019. (Tr. Proc. June 3, 2019). However, the case was continued to August 19, 2019. (App. p. 12). After a three-day jury trial, the jury found Tucker guilty as

¹ Tucker had several court-appointed attorneys below; however, Mr. Jesse Macro was Tucker’s attorney during the proceeding on June 3, 2019, the trial beginning August 19, 2019, and the sentencing hearing on November 12, 2019. (Ord. Appt. Jesse Macro, Feb. 1, 2019; Ord. Granting Jesse Macro’s Mot. to Withdraw, Nov. 19, 2019).

charged. (App. p. 15). Following the trial, the State withdrew its notice that it was seeking enhancements based on Tucker's prior convictions. (Ord. Granting Mot. to Rescind, Oct. 9, 2019).

Tucker was sentenced and judgment entered on November 12, 2019. (App. p. 20). Tucker was sentenced to five years imprisonment, suspended, and three years of probation. (*Id.* at 1). Tucker was also ordered to pay a \$750 fine, a \$125 law enforcement initiative surcharge, to complete 100 hours of community service, and up to \$250 in court costs.

Tucker filed a timely notice of appeal on November 18, 2019. (App. p. 26).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

When Tucker's case initially came to trial on June 3, 2019, his counsel objected to the composition of the jury pool² pursuant to *State v. Plain*, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017) and *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d 293.

² "Jury pool" refers to "the sum total of prospective jurors reporting for service." Iowa Code § 607A.3(6). The "jury panel" means "those jurors drawn or assigned for service to a courtroom, judge, or trial." *Id.* at § 607A.3(10). The term "venire" is used interchangeably with "jury pool" in Iowa Court cases. *See, e.g. Plain*, 898 N.W.2d at 821 n.5.

(Tr. Jury Trial Cont., June 3, 2019, 19:20-20:10).³ Tucker is African American. (*Id.* at 29:15-18). On June 3, 2019, the percentage of African Americans on the jury pool was 1.27 standard deviations below the percentage of African Americans overall in Polk County. (*Id.* at 22:17-23:13). The court granted a continuance to permit defense counsel to obtain evidence as to the third prong under *Lilly*: whether the disparity between the expected percentage of African Americans on the jury and the actual number of African Americans on the jury was a result of systemic exclusion of African Americans from the jury pool. (*Id.* at 23:20-24:5; 24:12-16; 24:21-25:9; 30:9-20; 31:14-18; *see also* App. p. 12).

On August 18, 2019, the parties again convened for trial. Again, Tucker’s counsel objected to the composition of the jury. (TT1 22:19-35:3). The jury pool for August 18, 2019 was made up of 245 potential jurors. (*Id.* at 22:22-24; App. pp. 29, 111)⁴. Of the pool, 238

³ In this brief, citations to the trial transcript will be designated by either their title (i.e., Sent. Tr.), or “TTX” (Trial Transcript and volume number) pp:ll-ll for citations contained within one page, or pp:ll-pp:ll where the citation covers multiple pages.

⁴ Court’s Exhibit 1 was a summary of jury questionnaire responses from the 245 potential jurors in the pool. Court’s Exhibit 2 was the court’s math (agreed on by the parties) demonstrating the standard

total jurors identified their race, with nine identifying as African American or Black, four identifying as “multi-race,” two identifying as “other,” one identifying as “unknown,” and 222 identifying as white. (TT1 22:22-24; *see also* Court Ex. 1). 5.4% of adults in Polk County are African Americans. (TT1 22:24, 25:5-8; Court Ex. 2). The parties agreed that, under *Lilly*, the difference between the expected number and the actual number of African Americans in the jury pool (standard deviation) exceeded the threshold established by the second prong in *Lilly*: a defendant can argue that the jury is not drawn from a fair cross-section if it is greater than one standard deviation from the mean, 930 N.W.2d at 305, and Tucker’s pool was 1.19 standard deviations from the mean.⁵ (TT1 24:18-21; App. p. 111).

deviation for the pool as a whole (the top third of the page), the pool excluding those who did not identify their race (the middle third of the page) and the panel assigned to Tucker’s courtroom (the bottom third of the page).

⁵ The state argued for excluding jurors from the calculation who did not identify a race on the jury questionnaire or who marked “other.” However, the standard deviation after excluding those jurors from the calculation was still at 1.10, therefore meeting the minimum threshold for disparity under *Lilly*. (TT Vol. 1 26:9-13).

The panel assigned to Tucker’s courtroom included 35 potential jurors, one of whom identified as African American or Black, and one of whom identified as “Hispanic/Latino/Spanish Origins.” (App. p. 29 ⁶). The remaining 33 jurors identified as white. (App. p. 29). The final jury that was seated was all white. (App. p. 29).

The parties proceeded to argue the third prong of *Lilly*: whether the statistical disparity in his jury pool was a result of systemic exclusion of African Americans from the master jury lists. 930 N.W.2d at 305-06. Despite the conversations about hiring an expert during the previous hearing, Defense counsel explained that there would be no expert testimony:

MR. MACRO: Judge, that is what’s in – another inherent problem with the Supreme Court’s handling of this issue. I guess I should say that with all due respect because I don’t know what a jury pool is going to look like until I get here.

The reality for this, I do not have the ability to hire experts under a court-appointed case until I have a basis to do it. So it causes some inherent, practical problems for an indigent defendant.

⁶ The Panel Selection Report is a list of all jurors assigned to Tucker’s courtroom, annotated to demonstrate which jurors were dismissed for cause (and why), and which jurors were struck by which party. The Report was cross-referenced with Court Ex. 1 to identify the races of the potential jurors on the panel and of those who sat on the jury.

With that said, Judge, I am prepared to make an argument solely based upon the fact that we use two sources for our jury pool. We use – voter registration and driver’s license, I think, are the two that we use in Iowa.

The problem with only using two of those is the statistical analysis shows that minorities sign up for licenses at a lower rate and also register to vote at a lower rate. So we do have a systematic problem.

(TT1 27:15-28:8). Counsel also referred the court to a law review article⁷ relied upon in *Plain and Lilly* that analyzed the shortcomings in Iowa’s jury list compilation methods and suggested methods for improving the representativeness of Iowa’s jury lists. (*Id.* at 28:9-22). The court concluded that Tucker failed to meet his burden of showing that the under-representation of African Americans in the jury pool was caused by the methods for drawing the jury list. (*Id.* at 33:10-35:3).

Jury selection proceeded. Juror No. 27 – the one African-American juror to be assigned to Tucker’s case – was excused for cause pursuant to a medical issue over Tucker’s objection, and an

⁷ Paula Hannaford-Agor, *Systematic Negligence in Jury Operations: Why the Definition of Systematic Exclusion in Fair Cross Section Claims must be Expanded*, 59 DRAKE L.R. 761 (2011).

all-white jury was seated. (TT1 77:25-91:7; Panel Selection Report).
The trial commenced.

The arresting officers, Brian Joseph and Ryan Garrett, testified that they were working on the “Summer Enforcement Team” or “SET” Patrol. (TT2 47:10-11). The goal of SET is “to patrol high-crime areas and do proactive police work by making traffic stops in that kind of situation.” (*Id.* at 43:17-19).

Garrett noticed Tucker sitting in his car in the parking lot of a Burger King on MLK Drive and Hickman Ave, between 10:30 and 10:42 p.m.⁸ at night on July 28, 2018. (*Id.* at 47:21-48:12). That particular Burger King location was open 24 hours. (*Id.* at 66:13-16). An unidentified and, during trial, undescribed woman was standing next to Tucker’s car. (*Id.* at 48:16-17). The officers observed “that something was exchanged,” but they weren’t able to tell who was buying or who was selling, or even what was exchanged: just that there was a “hand in the window.” (*Id.* at 59:5-18).

⁸ Garrett initially testified that the vehicle was observed in the Burger King parking lot at almost 11:00 p.m., but later clarified that the traffic stop occurred at 10:42 p.m., which puts Tucker in the Burger King closer to 10:30 p.m. than 11:00 p.m. (*Id.* at 51:3-5).

Garrett testified that after the police focused on Tucker, Tucker exited the parking lot of the Burger King onto Hickman Ave. (*Id.* at 49:3-18). Hickman Ave was under construction at the time, so that the normal four lanes of traffic was reduced to two lanes. (*Id.* at 49:13-18). Garrett believed that Tucker pulled out of the parking lot without stopping and had cut off a black SUV in the process. (*Id.* at 50:2-9). Garrett and Joseph followed the SUV and eventually caught up with Tucker's vehicle and pulled him over. (*Id.* at 50:7-15). During a search of Tucker's person and his car, an ounce of marijuana, \$650 in cash from the console, and a flip phone were seized. (*Id.* at 57:25-58:6; 61-4:8; 62:21-25; *see also* State's Ex. 3, 4).

An edited version of Garrett's chest cam video was admitted at trial as state's Exhibit 2. (TT2 53:25-54:12, Ex. 2). Although the tape was described as being "edited down for brevity," the tape was actually edited to exclude statements referring to the fact that Tucker was previously shot by a law enforcement officer that was not involved in this case. (TT3 12:25-13:8). The portions that were omitted were included one section from approximately 5:50-6:15 of the full video where an officer state's "He's the one that Johnetta shot," from approximately 27:50-29:00 of the full video where officers

are heard discussing Tucker and again mentioning that he was shot. (*Compare* State's Ex. 2, App. p. 29 *with* Court's Ex. 4, Nonedited Version of Body Camera Footage).

The State argued through Exhibit 2 that Tucker reacted badly to the police, supporting its theory that Tucker was distributing, rather than just purchasing marijuana. In an offer of proof, Tucker explained to the court that his reaction was based on his previous experience with the Des Moines Police Department, and that he wanted to submit the entire video of the traffic stop (Court's Ex. 4) to explain his prior experience:

To answer your question, Mr. Tucker believes it is relevant to show why he's being stopped, the problems he has with law enforcement, and things of that nature.

So it – normally I would suggest that we don't play those types of things in front of a jury because I'm concerned about the prejudicial effect on them.

And in essence, Judge, normally the defendant says to the Court: Judge, I don't want them to know I got shot by a police officer. They could take that the wrong way, that I'm a bad person. Mr. Tucker doesn't believe that. He believes it would be helpful for his case because he wants them to know the entire story. And that's what he wants.

And I think it's his desire to let the jury see what occurred, start to finish, and let them decide if he committed a crime. That's his intention. So we do think it's relevant. It's Mr. Tucker's intention to have it played in its entirety.

(TT3 6:6-25). Tucker argued for admission of the whole video under Iowa R. Evid. 5.106(a). However, the court denied permission to show the jury the entire video. (*Id.* at 17:15-22).

Garrett testified that there was nothing unlawful about Tucker being parked in the Burger King lot, as that location was open 24 hours a day. (TT2 66:13-67:3). Garrett testified that when Tucker drove away, and when he had pulled over and searched Tucker, his first thought was that Tucker had *purchased* the marijuana, not that he was distributing it. In fact, his voice was on the video of the interaction stating “I’m pretty sure he just bought it.” (*Id.* at 68:19-69:6). The amount of marijuana found on Tucker was consistent with a personal use amount over a period of time. (*Id.* at 69:7-10; 69:25-70:5).

Garrett testified that the most common evidence of marijuana distribution was not present when Tucker was pulled over. There was no drug packaging of any kind: no “Ziplocs, folded papers, [or] things of that nature where someone could make a smaller amount of marijuana and sell it in smaller quantities.” (*Id.* at 70:13-23). Garrett testified that “if someone is out selling, . . . they’ll have digital scales. And that’s if they are – that’s if they are breaking down a quantity in

their car, they will have scales and the Ziploc baggies.” (*Id.* at 71:6-10). There were no scales in Tucker’s car. (*Id.* at 71:21-23). There were no “drug notes” or records of people who owed Tucker money in the car. (*Id.* at 71:24-72:2). Finally, although Tucker’s cell phone was seized and examined by Officer Kelly Stuhr, there was no evidence that Tucker was using the cell phone to arrange sales of marijuana. (*Id.* at 163:3-11).

The state’s expert witness, Stuhr, testified that the lack of packaging, drug notes, and scales went directly to whether the quantity of marijuana was for personal use or distribution. When asked, “[I]s it consistent that an ounce of marijuana, absent any use of personal smoking devices or other paraphernalia, would that be consistent with personal use or consistent with delivery?” (*Id.* at 164:23-165:3), Stuhr testified, in essence, it depends:

A. It could be considered, yes.

Q. Considered what?

A. Possession with intent.

Q. Okay. Now, obviously, when you are making that consideration, are you looking at other details surrounding the circumstances?

A. Absolutely.

Q. To what other things would you be looking at?

A. If they have paraphernalia along with the drugs. If they have drug notes, money, packaging material, all of those things that we've talked about.

(*Id.* at 165:9-20). Stuhr also testified that, in her experience, she has “seen cases where there’s an ounce of marijuana and its for personal use.” (*Id.* at 165:21-24). Finally, Stuhr’s testimony about the street value of an ounce of marijuana was wildly inconsistent. On direct, she testified that an ounce of marijuana could sell for \$600-\$1,000. (*Id.* at 162:21-25). On cross examination, she admitted that this was actually the price for a pound of marijuana (16 ounces) and that an ounce could sell for \$150-\$300. (*Id.* at 17015:23).

After Tucker was arrested, Officer Ryan Steinkamp returned to the Burger King parking lot to look for the woman seen near Tucker’s car, but did not find her. (TT2 90:23-97:4). However, Steinkamp admitted he did not seek to obtain surveillance cameras from the Burger King. (*Id.* at 98:9-10).

Regarding the \$650.00 found in the console, this was from a recent legal settlement, and not from the sale of marijuana. Tucker submitted evidence that he had received a \$6,800 settlement, leaving him with \$3,923.68 after his attorneys’ fees and medical bills were paid. (App. p. 112). However, Tucker was prevented from putting this

documentary evidence before the jury as a discovery sanction. (TT2 115:13-15). As a result, he had to take the stand to explain this situation. (*See, e.g.* TT2 115:4-12 (the court: “I think Mr. Macro makes a good point in that Mr. Tucker is allowed to present his defense. There’s nothing that prohibits Mr. Tucker from testifying about the settlement. But to submit those documents that were not complied with under a court order or the rules would appear to be – it would impact our whole process of authentication, identification, and preparation that goes into these cases.”). Tucker testified that he cashed the check that he received from this settlement, then used some of the cash from his settlement to buy the car he was driving when he was pulled over and that the rest of the cash in his car was what was left after making a down payment. (TT3 44:3-47:11).

Ultimately, the jury found Tucker guilty as charged and the matter was set for sentencing. Judgment entered on November 11, 2019. This appeal followed. Additional facts may be discussed below.

ARGUMENT

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