### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19–1919

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

TYJUAN LEVELL TUCKER, Defendant-Appellant.

> APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE ROBERT J. BLINK, JUDGE (PRETRIAL), & THE HONORABLE WILLIAM P. KELLY, JUDGE (TRIAL)

#### **APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

#### LOUIS S. SLOVEN

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN P. SARCONE Polk County Attorney

MEGGAN L. GUNS Assistant Polk County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

**FINAL** 

###

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

Tucker argues that he was prejudiced because exclusion of this evidence deprived him of "the opportunity to rebut the state's case as to intent to distribute marijuana with credible evidence." See Def's Br. at 47–48. But Tucker was permitted to testify about the settlement, and he could point to his statements in the recorded footage where he had mentioned it. See TrialTr.V2 118:21-119:14; TrialTr.V3 44:3-47:9; State's Ex. 2. Of course, Tucker's testimony was not credible—he said that he "had no marijuana," despite the fact that it was found inside his underwear and he was clearly aware of its presence. See TrialTr.V3 33:15-35:2; TrialTr.V3 47:16-48:16; but see State's Ex. 2. Tucker seems to imply that he might not have testified if not for this adverse evidentiary ruling—he argues that "[he] could have testified on the preliminary foundation issues without waiving his right to testify or not testify under the Fifth Amendment." See Def's Br. at 43-44 (citing Iowa R. Evid. 5.104(d)). But that exposes two other problems with Tucker's challenge and claim of prejudice. First, Tucker could not have laid foundation for admission of these documents as business records in the regular course of business—and he had not listed any witnesses who could have laid the missing foundation about the regular course of business for entities that purportedly generated these documents.

See State v. Reynolds, 746 N.W.2d 837–38 (Iowa 2008) (finding that error reports were inadmissible because "there is no evidence in the record from any person with knowledge as to how the Federal Reserve error reports were created or as to the reliability of the error reporting system in general"). Thus, it would be correct to exclude this evidence anyway, and exclusion of this evidence for a different reason cannot create reversible error. See DeVoss v. State, 648 N.W.2d 56, 62-63 (Iowa 2002) (explaining that rulings on admissibility of evidence may be affirmed on any ground that appears from the record, even if that ground was not urged below). Second, Tucker's claim that admitting these documents would have obviated the need for his own testimony might make sense if he had merely testified about the source of that \$650 in cash to refute the inference that he had just sold marijuana, but settlement documents could never have replaced his testimony that he did not know about the bag of marijuana in his underwear. See TrialTr.V3 33:15-35:2; TrialTr.V3 47:16-48:16. Tucker would still need to testify to present that defense, and the jury would still reach the same conclusion about his objectively bizarre testimony: Tucker chose to lie, because telling the truth would have proved that he was guilty as charged. *Cf. State v. Odem*, 322 N.W.2d 43, 47 (Iowa 1982).

Tucker did not propose a continuance as an alternative, below. *See* TrialTr.V2 108:7–118:20. The trial court still considered whether it should grant a continuance, and it found that would be inappropriate because this case "has been pending for a long time." *See* TrialTr.V2 114:18–22. Additionally, it would have been unfair to interrupt trial after the State had already started presenting evidence. That was one of the factors that the Iowa Supreme Court noted in *Christensen*, in upholding a ruling that excluded undisclosed alibi evidence:

...[A] delay in the proceeding would create a substantial time interval between the presentation of the State's evidence and the defendant's evidence of alibi. This not only disrupts the judicial process but may also affect the jurors and the outcome of the trial. This is so because a continuous sequence of testimony would ensure the evidence does not grow stale during an interval followed by fresh evidence immediately prior to jury deliberation.

See Christensen, 323 N.W.2d at 224. Additionally, Christensen helps establish that Tucker's testimony makes it impossible for him to show prejudicial error, even if he could establish that this evidence should not have been excluded. See id. (finding exclusion of alibi evidence was neither an abuse of discretion nor prejudicial error because the defendant testified and "his testimony did not refer to the alibi," so "[i]t is doubtful that the jury would have believed the testimony of an alibi witness under these circumstances").

Finally, Tucker attempts to deflect blame to his attorneys for failing to pass along these documents that he had already given them, whenever his counsel withdrew and was replaced. *See* Def's Br. at 46; TrialTr.V2 109:9–18. There is no proof that this is true. In any event, Tucker's decision to surprise the State with evidence supporting his defense in violation of reciprocal discovery would not be excused by his decision to surprise his own trial counsel with that same evidence, as well. Indeed, this effectively moots Tucker's challenge because his trial counsel could not possibly have been prepared to lay the required foundation to admit these documents over a hearsay objection.

Tucker cannot establish that it was an abuse of discretion to exclude this evidence, which should have been disclosed to the State in advance of the *first* anticipated trial date, months earlier—instead of being concealed until partway through the presentation of evidence. This was "a reasonable course of action" under "the circumstances existing at the time the decision was made." *See Whitley*, 816 N.W.2d at 389–90. And even if Tucker could establish that these documents should not have been excluded as a sanction under Rule 2.14(6)(c), it would not matter because he could not have laid foundation for their admission, and any error would be harmless. Thus, his challenge fails.

# IV. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding extraneous portions of the footage of Tucker's arrest.

#### **Preservation of Error**

Tucker moved for admission of the full video. The trial court considered and rejected his motion. That ruling preserved error. *See Lamasters*, 821 N.W.2d at 864; *Windsor*, 316 N.W.2d at 688.

#### **Standard of Review**

Again, rulings on admissibility of evidence are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See, e.g., State v. Belken*, 633 N.W.2d 786, 793 (Iowa 2001); *State v. Austin*, 585 N.W.2d 241, 243 (Iowa 1998).

#### **Merits**

State's Exhibit 2 was footage from Officer Garrett's body camera with certain redactions. Tucker moved to admit the unredacted video; he asserted it was important to admit evidence of Tucker's statements about being shot by police in the past, to establish Tucker's antipathy towards police officers and explain his conduct. *See* TrialTr.V3 19:10–20:1 ("I think he gets to explain that I've had terrible experiences with the police and that's why I behaved that way."). The State resisted and argued that it was only being presented "to garner sympathy," and it also noted Tucker's statements would be hearsay, if offered by Tucker. *See* TrialTr.V3 4:17–19:8. The court excluded the unredacted video:

The fact that the use of the tape is designed to talk about an officer shooting — which is clearly not relevant to the drug possession or possession-with-intent-to-deliver case. . . .

[I]n looking at the conditions for admission of this tape through Mr. Tucker — and that's the key piece here, it's through Mr. Tucker — first of all, it has to be relevant for the jury to find a fact of consequence more or less probable.

And so when we are dealing with drug possession, or intent to deliver, or interference with official acts, I do not see how talking about an officer shooting, how that tends to make a fact of consequence more or less probable. So we have a relevance issue right off the bat under 5.401 and 5.402.

We then have the hearsay problem coming through Mr. Tucker, even though Mr. Tucker is one of the subjects on the video. To come in through him would be problematic and there would be a hearsay violation.

Finally, when we are looking at the conditions for admission of evidence, we have to look at the probative value versus prejudicial effect under 5.403. And this Court does not find probative value in discussing an officer shooting as it relates to Mr. Tucker.

It appears to me that the purpose of that — the use of that evidence might be for an improper purpose.

[...]

I think that's what Mr. Tucker wants, is either wants sympathy or the jury to hear that he's had a previous interaction with police. And that's one of the things that we try to keep out so that the jury can stay focused on the facts at hand, on the case at hand, and to really focus in on the elements that the State has alleged that Mr. Tucker has done in this case.

See TrialTr.V3 14:10–18:20. Tucker is challenging that ruling.

Tucker argues that admission was required under the rule of completeness, because he established that the redacted video footage was "necessary to a proper understanding of the admissible primary evidence" that had already been admitted. See Def's Br. at 51 (quoting State v. Huser, 894 N.W.2d 472, 509 (Iowa 2017)). Tucker describes the State's theory as an inference that "his reaction to a search of his person while he was handcuffed . . . led [the officers] to believe Tucker was distributing marijuana." See Def's Br. at 51-52. This argument is flawed on two levels. First, that was not the State's advocacy. Instead, Tucker's reaction to the search was only relevant to show that he knew he was carrying marijuana. His reaction changed at the moment that officers began to search the specific part of his person where he was concealing the marijuana, and he did not have that reaction during any part of his interaction with police that had preceded that moment. See State's Ex. 2; TrialTr.V2 88:24-90:2. The complete video would not help refute that theory—it would only support it. That means that Tucker's argument that this video was "necessary" to understand the evidence already submitted is incorrect, on the facts of this case, and he cannot establish that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that Rule 5.106 did not require admission of the unredacted video.

Second, Tucker was attempting to use Rule 5.106 to admit these specific out-of-court statements for the truth of the matters asserted (in violation of Rule 5.802), which had a potential for unfair prejudice that would substantially outweigh their probative value (in violation of Rule 5.403). See TrialTr.V3 14:10-18:20. The trial court made a separate ruling on Tucker's proffered testimony about the purported shooting event—it held that Tucker could not testify about that event because it was not relevant to the issue of whether he possessed this marijuana or whether he possessed it with intent to distribute. See TrialTr.V3 18:24–20:16. Rule 5.106 may provide an exception to rules against hearsay evidence, because it allows introduction of evidence from the same recording to put the admissible evidence in context. But Rule 5.106 does not permit admission of the additional statements for a hearsay purpose, dependent on belief in the truth of the matters asserted. See, e.g., Huser, 894 N.W.2d at 509 ("[W]e view rule 5.106 as not permitting admission of other hearsay conversations that have no bearing on the [admitted] conversation itself."); State v. Davis, No. 13–1099, 2014 WL 5243343, at \*6–7 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 15, 2014) (noting that Rule 5.106 did not permit admission of an interrogator's statements for truth of the matters asserted during the interrogation).

Statements about Tucker's prior encounters with police would only be relevant if they were believed and taken as true, and that means his statements were offered for a hearsay purpose: not to prove the effect of his statements on the officers (or on Tucker), but as assertions that offered a tenuous explanation for Tucker's behavior if they were true and would be irrelevant if they were false. See, e.g., State v. Wells, 522 N.W.2d 304, 308 n.1 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994) ("A statement is offered to prove the truth of its assertion if the substance of the statement must be believed by the jury to have true relevance in the case."). Therefore, the hearsay evidence that Tucker wanted to admit was not admissible under Rule 5.106. Moreover, beyond the hearsay issue, it would still be correct to exclude those statements under Rule 5.403. See Davis, 2014 WL 5243343, at \*7 (explaining that "the recorded statements, like all relevant evidence, are subject to the rule 5.403 balancing test that compares the probative value of the statements to their danger of unfair prejudice and confusing the jury" even if Rule 5.106 applies). Tucker does not challenge the separate ruling that barred him from testifying about those prior interactions with police, which provides an independently sufficient ground to affirm this ruling. See DeVoss, 648 N.W.2d at 62–63; TrialTr.V3 18:24–20:16.

Tucker recognizes the significance of the video: "when officers realized Tucker had something in his shorts, he began to yell for help, causing a scene and repeatedly asking the officers while they were grabbing him." See Def's Br. at 50 (citing State's Ex. 2 at 3:15-5:00). For Tucker's statements on the unredacted video to explain that, they would need to be accepted as true—which meant he was trying to use Rule 5.106 as an end-run around the rule against hearsay. Admitting this evidence would also create a side-inquiry into a prior event that would be unfairly prejudicial and distract the jury from determining whether Tucker possessed this marijuana with intent to distribute which meant he was trying to use Rule 5.106 as an end-run around Rule 5.403's balancing analysis. Neither of those are permissible. See Huser, 894 N.W.2d at 509 (quoting United States v. Castro-Cabrera, 534 F.Supp.2d 1156, 1161 (C.D. Cal. 2008)) (noting Rule 5.106 "cannot be used as an 'end run around the usual rules of admissibility.""). And even ignoring those grounds for the trial court's ruling, Tucker cannot establish that redacted portions of this video could help to explain his reaction to the *imminent discovery of his marijuana*—which was the point where his behavior changed and became evidence that he knew that he was carrying marijuana. See State's Ex. 2 at 3:15-5:00.

It is worth noting the facial implausibility of Tucker's narrative, as a final point on harmless error. If Tucker was afraid of unprovoked police violence, why would he react by jumping away and screaming, which can only escalate the situation? And then, Tucker immediately calmed down, as soon as the officers took his marijuana. *See* Court's Ex. 4, at 6:01–6:15. He was clearly reacting out of fear that his marijuana would be found, and not out of fear of being shot—that theory was flatly inconsistent with Tucker's actual behavior, with regards to both timing and logic. Admitting this evidence could not possibly have changed the outcome, so any error would be harmless. *See Davis*, 2014 WL 5243343, at \*7 (citing Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a)).

# V. The evidence was sufficient to establish that Tucker possessed this marijuana with intent to distribute.

#### **Preservation of Error**

Tucker moved for judgment of acquittal on this element. The trial court overruled that motion. *See* TrialTr.V2 176:21–186:18; TrialTr.V3 50:4–57:4. That ruling preserved error. *See State v*. *Williams*, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27–28 (Iowa 2005).

### **Standard of Review**

Review is for correction of errors at law, *See Huser*, 894 N.W.2d at 490 (citing *State v. Sanford*, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012)).

# **Merits**

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